An Oral History interview with Celia & Roger Miles

Interviewed by Roger Kitchen on Monday 18th April 2005

If we could begin by me asking you, when were you born?

C: I was born in 1941 

And Roger?

R: 1939

And whereabout were you born?

C: In the village

It’s going to be difficult doing two, but anyway… What was your earliest memory as a child?

C: Well, I think my very earliest memory – my father was in the Fire Service and went I think to the South Coast at some point, and I have, it must be my earliest memory, of waiting for him to come home, only once I remember it, and waiting for the inevitable present, you know.  So I do remember that and then I guess another early memory: at the end of the war some sort of celebration to4, you know, to celebrate the end of the war I guess.  I remember the sports and the tea and so on, so that’s pretty early for me.

So that’s about 4 years old?

C:Yes, I’d only be 4, yes.

That probably would have been what, VE Day?

C: Well I’m thinking there was VE and VJ, but I guess it probably would have been VE but I can’t remember for sure, but I know it was to do with the end of the war, that’s all I can tell you.

And you grew up in this village?

C: I grew up in this village.  I did leave when I was 19, came back after I was married to Roger.  We came back to take the farm over you see.  That’s Poplar House Farm next door.

And as a kid, whereabouts did you play?

C: Well I was thinking about that and you know – I know we always think of the summertime when we think about playing outside, not in the home,  and we played an awful lot in the street.  We played a lot in the street and then I guess as I got a bit older I was allowed to do the little expeditions and we used to go off in various places, always the same places. We used to go down what we used to call Black Lane, now it’s really Park Lane, but it was always known as Black Lane and it was wonderful down there.  You went over a railway bridge and you used to watch the trains and the steam coming through this wooden bridge, you know, and all the smoke and the team whatever, and it was a wonderful adventure, do you know?  But I must have been I should say 9 or 10, because I don’t think I’d be allowed to go before then, and we always used to go quite regular, always in the summer I’m sure, to somewhere called ‘Sammy’s Brook’ which was again, this is this time through the station’s buildings themselves over another bridge into fields, down perhaps three fields and we came to this lovely, lovely brook and we’d spend almost all day there, just messing about – all the things you do in a brook – dams and stones whatever, having fun, always with other little girls by the way.  These expeditions never took place in mixed company as it were,  it always seemed to be a little group of girls and we used to take lunch, so they were long long days.  But a lot of the games took place in the street, in the street.

But how old – when you were doing these expeditions to Sammy’s Brook and so on, how old would you be?

C: I should think about 9 or 10 and a bit later, because my mother was a very protective mum and  I always had to report for lunch, you know, so we had to get permission.  We always got permission to go everywhere.  We were very good children, well, my sister and I were – we had to be, you know?  We always had permission and she always wanted to know where we were going.  But they were deemed to be safe places to go in those days, and off we’d go.  Picking wildflowers, don’t forget the wildflowers.  Little girls always picked wildflowers, wherever they were going, come back clutching them , partly dead, and give them to mum, you know.  And blackberrying of course, at the relevant time and things like that.  So yeh, we had a  - I know looking back gives a sense of everything absolutely beautiful but to me they were wonderful, wonderful days.

And did you press these wildflowers….?

C: No, brought them back for mum and she’d put them in a little wine glass if they were small or whatever – but always droopy by the time we got home: violets, primroses, cowslips, you know, they used to grow near the railway bank a lot of  wildflowers did, didn’t they Roger, always grew up near rail – I suppose they were left wild weren’t they , places like that? But – as most places were – but yeh, yeh

Where boys were doing fishing, you wouldn’t bother about that?

C: Ah well.  There was somewhere in the village, an old brickyard, and there was – well it was a massive hole with water in it.  I guess it was quite dangerous really.  We called it ‘The Clay Hole’.   And yes, it was more a boys’ thing, but we girls would venture 4there sometimes and we used to catch what we called ‘tiddlers’ – would they have been minnows?

R: Minnows and sticklebacks.
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C: We called them tiddlers and just a little net and we’d scoop them, with a jam jar this time and take them home and always they’d die by the next day I remember that.  My mother used to say, ‘Not more, you shouldn’t bring them home you know.  They’re only going to die’  And I remember my friends and I, I’ve got such a vivid memory, they’d die and we’d find a little matchbox and we’d lay them in the matchbox and bury them in the garden.  Had quite a lot of ritual burials of all sorts of things!  But yes, that’s the only fish really.  We weren’t really interested in fishing really, no.

And things like conkers and all that sort of thing, you didn’t worry…?

C: Well, conkers were a boys’ thing I think. You know, the division was greater then between boys and girls, I mean, dolls, we played with dolls, but, I’ll tell you the big thing we used to do – should I tell you some of the games we used to play in the street – they were real street games?  One was skipping and this skipping, with probably an old clothes line or something, a long, long, long piece of rope and one at each end turning it and a whole queue of little girls waiting to come in.  And one would go out and one would come in and it was quite – and you’d sing, sing little rhymes to it, you know,  and I can’t remember any at the moment: but we used to do that, then sometimes you’d be skipping and someone would join you in it but you used a huge piece of rope. So we used to skip in the street.  We used to play rounders.  We used to play rounders more in the evening I guess, and we used to play across the road.  We used to have two points on the path and then further points across the road on the verge, cos it was so quiet, you know, you could carry on a game of rounders with the occasional pause, you know.  So that was something we played.  We used to play marbles…

Girls played marbles?

C: Oh we played marbles.  Actually I was a champion player of marbles… and this was a form of marbles  - I don’t know whether you know it – where there was the path and then there was a sort of dirt area before the houses started and a hole would be dug, quite a deep hole, tight?, in this dirt and two people played, a couple played, and you played usually with two marbles each, and it’s the way you got them in the hole and then the marbles were yours, the ones that played the best…but, yes, that was a very popular game in Bagworth, wasn’t it Roger?

R: Yes

C: And what else did we play in the street?  Oh, whip and top and all those things, you know.

Whip and top?

C: Oh yes, we used to play whip and top in the street, yes.  You know whip and top do you?

Well, I know  but I didn’t realise it was, if you like, that modern because I as a kid wasn’t  - I mean, I’m only like 5 years younger and yet we never had any of that.

C: Oh no, we played whips and tops.  And snobs, did you play snobs?

Now I’ve only heard that today here, ‘snobs’, because where I was it was called ‘dibs’ – you mean 5 stones? 

C: Yes, we used to play that?

And girls used to play that as well?

C: Yes, we used to play that.  We used to sit on the kerbside and play that, oh yes….. I did write a few other things down be ause they were so interesting some of the games. Are you going to help me out Roger with these games?

R: Well, I can only remember the ones that you’ve talked about up to now that you played

C: Yes, sorry, yes.  Well, ‘Sound your holler’, now I think these were more winter games and we’d play in the early evening.  Again, I must have been a bit older, 9 or 10. Something called ‘Sound your holler’ which was simply a hide and seek game.  One person was ‘on’ as it were and we all hid and we had to sound a holler, to make a noise…

Sound a holler?

C: Well, make a noise, you can make it can’t you darling?

R: Well, ‘sound your holler’ you shouted ‘Sound your holler’ which meant ‘make a noise so I can find you’ you see and you could say anything you liked, but that the person was looking for the other children would say ‘Sound your holler’ in order to identify where they were.

C: Yes, that was one.

And they’d just be hidden around.  This was outside?

R: In the street

C: Oh, in the street.

R: And in the fields

And in people’s gardens….?

C:… behind gates, trees, all that kind of thing… And another one which I didn’t do, but the boys certainly did, which – it sounds really quite awful – it was – you’ve probably heard of this –it was tin with holes in and fire was put in it, cinders, ash –cinders – have you heard of this? And if it dies down they would, with a wire, and they would swing it round.  Have you heard of that?

No I haven’t.

C: Sounds quite frightening doesn’t it?

R: Well, it was usually a treacle tin and you put a wire hoop about a metre or a yard or two foot from the tin, fill it full of fire, and swing it round till it was red hot and then – bit dangerous really – but that’s one of the things we did in the winter which kept you –

And you just gather round to keep warm?

R: Well yeh, we had one each, you see, one each.

C: It was the thrill of doing it wasn’t it.  The thrill of how it looked. Because it , when it  was swung round it used to  glow didn’t it?

R:  Well, it’s like swinging round in a circle and course the air rushing through made it almost into a little furnace you see.  It was great fun but dangerous.

And you were saying about going illicitly into farmers’ fields.  Were the farmers sort of …

10 min

C: ….amenable to children? No, I’m afraid they weren’t, because – now this is my future father in law remember, I mean I didn’t know that then obviously, but playing rounders, playing ball games of any sort, I lived opposite one of Roger’s father’s fields, well, a couple of fields really, we called The Meadow right Roger?

R: Yeh

C: And inevitably the ball would go over the hedge and into the field.  Now the gate was quite a way from where our ball had gone over, do you see?  The gate going towards where the Miles’ lived.  So someone would stay guard at the gate, you see you’d got to go through that gate and walk down and find the ball.  Now the walking down to find the ball seemed to be interminable.  It seemed to be quicker to go once you’d got it and running back.  So somebody would shout and sometimes you’d have to say ‘Roger’s coming’ (Reemember that’s his father) and of course you would get up there as quick as possible. So yes, we were rather nervous, especially of Roger’s father and he was a dear man really, I mean he was my father in law and I really got on with him very well.  But as you know, as a child, we were quite scared.  And another time, when I was told off, I was actually told off by George Miles was if we went to the top of the hill north of Bagworth, you’ve got Battram and they had a Recreation Ground with swings and a slide.  Well, we hadn’t got one in our village so we’d walk up there and that meant going right to the top of the road, turning left and backtracking to the – well if we took a short cut over Roger’s father’s fields, you could get there, you see, much quicker, and one evening, I was with my friend who was pushing our baby brother in a pushchair and we decided to go over and we were inside of the fence that would have taken us into the Recreation Ground, when suddenly a loud voice, ‘What are you doing?’, you know and we stopped.  We knew who it was and he came over to us.  He says, ‘Are you aware that you’re walking through mowing grass?’, you know, and we looked behind us and we’d left a trail all with this pushchair, you know, all the grass was flattened.  So we got told off and he wanted to know who we belonged to.  ‘Who’s your father?’ I remember him saying to me.  You know, so he wanted a name and I was really scared, but then he did become my father in law.  (laughs)

Cos that’s the other thing about living in a village.  Often this stuff can get back can’t it, by other means?

C: Get back to parents?

Yes

C: Oh my word yes.  Oh yes.  Always, yes.  I was often in trouble because something had got back: something I’d chosen not to tell my parents they learnt from someone else.  Yes, that’s true.

Was there anywhere, as a child, going round, were there any places that – maybe parts of gthe area – where there was sort of  ‘ you don’t go there’  for no good reason but someone had said that they’d seen something nasty there or, you know, were there any kind of  ‘no go’ areas that were almost self-imposed around here?

C: There was one… you see we had a railway station, a passenger railway station as well as one connected with the mine transporting coal; but we had a passenger service and a lovely little station and along with the station there was an old station house, a pretty little place, you know, the typical station house with the lattice windows, you know, and so on – it was quite pretty, but empty.  We were always intrigued – we’d look through the smoky window, you know, we couldn’t see through very well , what intrigued by this house…  Well the boys in the village, I mean we get to a certain age you have a lot m ore to do with boys  don’t you, naturally really, you know, you’d be there with your bikes talking to them and so on – and they somehow had gained entry into this house and they told us that it was haunted.  I remember it so well: and talked about cupboards – I suppose there were built-in cupboards… and we wouldn’t have gone in there for any – we were intrigued by it but we wouldn’t – I;m sure it wasn’t haunted of course but this was their tale.  I think they – the bravado of going in, they’d got to add something to it…… So I do remember we wouldn’t have set foot in there, but we loved going to the railway station, you know.  We’d go and – the waiting room, one on each side, you know, the platform each side and a waiting room and in the winter there’d be a fire in there and there was a very kind man who worked there and would let us go in sometimes and the smell of the wooden building and the fire – I remember that very well.  Wouldn’t stay there long but we’d suddenly say, ‘Shall we go to the railway station? and watch the trains, occasional train go by, you know, or whatever.  So yes, that was quite interesting.

Were there places that, as you got older -  you were saying that you had more contact with boys – were there, I mean I’ve been over in Ibstock this morning and hearing about the kind of Monkey Parade which was where young men and women used to walk up and down the High Street.  Now this is obviously more rural but did you have anything of that kind of equivalent here where young men and women – I mean from the age of about 13 and 14 onwards really – anywhere like that where you met?
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C: Not specifically was there?

R: Well, there was the parade up the village wasn’t there?

C: No, this is where boys and girls used to walk together.  There was somewhere they talked about in Coalville I think, a Monkey Parade… No I don’t think we had – we just – we just met really, I don’t know, I just remember boys and bikes and occasionally they would turn up at our gate, you know, a few boys and we’d go out and have a chat.  But I don’t think we’d go to anywhere specifically with them.  It was quite strict parents I had.  I wasn’t… I tell you we did go – I did go, I’ll make a confession now. There was, again at Battram, there was a village hall there, there was a St John Ambulance Brigade started, you know.  I didn’t go initially, but there was a young man I really rather liked and he’d joined, so I joined purely because of this young man and the walk coming back, you know, he’d be pushing his bike and that was rather pleasant, you know, just that little bit away from the village and away from parents and so on, but just to, you know, just to walk home together that was nice.  I’m sure you walked.

R: Well you certainly went walking with me!

Where did you two meet then?

C: Well we were at Bagworth – at the local school together.  Yes, I’d be about 8 I think when I first… and you’d be 10 in Mr Heath’s class.  He sat in front of me in class at school.

How big was the school then, how many pupils?

R: Well quite a lot

C: Yes, over a hundred there’d be 

R: Yeh

C: Probably 120

R: It was a thriving community when we were young.

And what was its main industry then?

C: Well, the mine

R: mining

C: Yes, the mine

And the mine was where?

C: Oh sorry, just down here on Station Road.  You’ve come by it.  If you noticed any of the new development

No, I’ve come from Ibstock

C: Ah, you’ve come that way, sorry.  Well if you do go back you’ll see our lovely statue that commemorates the mine.  It closed in 1991.  Simply, it was exhausted.  It was no political decision.  It finished in a natural sort of way didn’t it?  But the mine to me, my memory is of mining.  My family were not miners and of course Roger’s weren’t, but an awful lot of the children’s parents, fathers, were miners.  I can remember them coming home, I guess after the morning shift, obviously no showers then or anything.  They’d come home all black and all their workclothes on, you know, coming home.  I remember that.  But that was definitely the main industry.  A factory opened, didn’t it, Precision Rubber something like that it was called, a factory opened in the village. Can you think of anything else – a garage?   Can you think of any other employment?

R: Well, it was mostly that.

C: I think the mine was the main…

How many were employed in the mine then?

R: Couldn’t tell you that.

C: A lot of people in this village could of course because….

In a sense it was, if you like, to all intents and purposes, to anyone outside, it would be described as a ‘mining village?

R: Definitely

C: Oh, most definitely a mining village.  Obviously it’s a very old village.  I’m sure you know that.  It’s a Saxon village but it was a village then of people working on the land, but no, it was a, definitely a mining village.  Boys in the village of my age they would go in immediately.  They would leave school and go to the mine.  Their fathers were there.  It was the thing wasn’t it?

R: Yeh.

C: Very often that happened.  And of course when, later on, we were known as ‘the dying village’.  It’s an absolute fact because you see it was so diminished by subsidence, properties – whole rows of houses were demolished, unfit to live in, too badly damaged and we really were called, in the newspapers, - occasionally Id shop in town and have to give my address, ‘Oh, Bagworth, the dying village’.  Literally, you know.

So what number of population when it was thriving, presumably,… you’re talking when, about the 70s are you?

C:  A bit before that.  I came back here in 1967 to the farm and it was in a bad way then wasn’t it?

R: Very bad

C:  But the house next door it was terribly damaged and it was in a very depressed bad way.  You can’t really imagine it, you know.  People were having to leave the village, they had no choice.Barlestone Road.  Have you come that way down by? Yes? Well, you see a lot of the trees, you can see them from here.  That’s a Woodland Trust plantation.  Along there there was I believe, if my numbers are correct, you’ll have to forgive if they’re incorrect, you’ll have to forgive me but I think there were 70, rows of  70 houses there, all demolished, completely demolished.

By subsidence?

C: By subsidence.  They were Coal Board houses.  It would be the Bagworth Coal Company originally, would have built those houses for their workers - and they were all demolished and these people rehoused.  And because there was no new build here, because of the damage situation, then they were all rehoused in surrounding villages. A lot of broken hearts, right?

R: Yeh, they didn’t want to leave,  a lot of them

C: A lot of people who didn’t want to leave had lived their all their married lives, you know, quite elderly people and  that wasn’t all.  Lots of other houses within this…
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R: Little Bagworth

C: Yes, Heath Road, there was a little community down there wasn’t there?

R: Yeh

C:  This is just a little bit out the village, but it was part of our parish

R: The whole lot had gone down there

C: Yeh.  All the houses, yes

R: There must have been – how many would there be?  40? 50?

C: Probably, yes

If there were 70 over there, you looking at  120, you’re looking at 300 odd people?

C: Yes

R: Oh yes

C: And more than that.  Some on Station Road and …. I mean, I don’t know the details of mining but what was said is that it originally, I think they were no undermining the village itself, I guess that was the plan, but I don’t know whether it was the technology and they could do it and they packed it, I don’t really know, but at that time they did start to mine under the village and it was dramatic and disastrous wasn’t it Roger?

R: Oh yes.  Buildings just cracked right – cracked up.

C: Oh yes.  Our property next door, well it wasn’t our property then, but we lived there,  and that – it was really dramatic.  You know, you’re talking about 4 or 5 inch cracks, you know… I once came down on a snowy day, a snowy morning and I’d got snow in the hall.  It had come through – a little drift in the hall.  Really, really dramatic.  Houses tilted didn’t they?  Roads came up, you know.  Water supply was always disrupted wasn’t it?

R: Always

C: Always being disrupted.  It was really dramatic stuff.  You can’t really imagine it…

But mining still carried on for another like 20 years?

C: Oh gosh, that was, yes that was….A lot of the houses they would repair.  Some of the people were home owners, but they still sometimes had to go didn’t they?  They’d said that the house was unrepairable, it had titled, it had… - I think if it tilted it was bad, wasn’t it, difficult to repair?

R: They knocked down the majority of the farmhouses.  There were 7 there’s now only 2 left.  They knocked down the school, the church and one of the chapels, the Co-op and all the buildings between here and the Club…

C: One of the pubs

R: Yeh, and one of the pubs, The Barrel, were all demolished as the result of subsidence.  And it was considered a dying village.  It was very depressing actually.

C: Yes it was depressing

R: People were very down and low, but the local authority didn’t seem to give us any support whatsoever.  They wouldn’t build us a new school, even though they were offered the land.  They got no support from the County Council did they at all?

And presumably – when did the Bagworth station close then?  Was this under Beeching?

C: That would be Beeching

R: Yeh

It’s all sort of going out of here

C: Yeh, but it was the mining really.  It was mining subsidence that did for us.  I mean, we had a lovely church actually.  It was a  Saxon – a Norman tower sorry and of course I thin often the bodies of the churches were changed weren’t they – probably that was Victorian, but, you know, it was just knocked down and the Saxon tower, with a lot of difficulty I can tell you that, we remember that well don’t we?  I think that would be about, would it be about ’65 or ’66, cos I know my son was the last baby to be baptised in the old church and my daughter, who’s 3 years younger, she was one of the first babies to be baptised in the new church.  So we had a replacement church which is just a typical 60s,… yeh.  And this lovely Norman tower was bulldozed down.  It was terrible.  But you know I’d just come back then.  In fact I doubt if I was  here when they started that – probably just back, probably a bit later than I said, probably 67 maybe they were pulling it down.  But I’d got a child at school, he started his school at 5, didn’t seem long he was there – in the old school building where we were at school, you see? Typical building.  I think it was  built about 1860.  Typical village school, you know, quite substantial really wasn’t it Roger, and he came home one day , he says, ‘Mummy we’ve got to move out of school’, you know, ‘it’s cracking’  And it was as simple as that and they’d got to get these children out of  the school and they brought in two mobiles, you know, the typical mobiles, one each side of the playground and my son and my daughter spent the whole of their school life with these mobile buildings.  Quite inadequate facilities in a way, obviously, you know.  But by that time, I know when Victoria was there, I think there were about 43 children there that’s all, so it was small numbers, because again, no new build, people were leaving, no many children in the village you see, and no prospect of any.  So when we parents were fighting to get a replacement – you see, the old school, all that time, when my daughter was 11 when she left,  the old school still stood.  They may have said it wasn’t  fit to be in but  they didn’t pull it down, it was deemed to be relatively safe I presume, to be around.  It stayed there and we always – well we were really promised that we would get a new school build one day, possibly on that site, but ultimately they wouldn’t build the school and they said, Well, you haven’t got any numbers, we can’t build a school for just a few children’, you know.  We couldn’t say when things were going to get better: I always believed they would, you know, cos people really did think it was going to die  - the village was going to die altogether.

25.28 min

So that period of demolition…

C: It was horrible

How long did it last for?  How many years are we talking about?

R Well, quite a lot…..Well up until the mine closed

We’re looking at nearly twenty years?

R: Twenty years of subsidence, yeh

C: I mean, I’m sure they had it before Im saying, but this was when I came back, you see, 67.  But it would be before then as well.  That house was in a bad way quite a bit before I came wasn’t it?

R: Oh yes, it was happening for years… People got depressed and they had Action groups to try and get bungalows built for people, which they did get some built – on rafts- but subsidence, well, I mean, up until about, what shall we say, how long have the houses been built down there?  Five years ago we’d probably got remains of subsidence, especially on the land.

I mean, here you are, sitting in a new build and there’s a lot of new houses I’m just seeing here,..

R: Yeh, all the land this house is sitting on, subsided.  There was a tension break, went straight through where this house sits, of about two foot, or 18 inches to 2 foot deep.  The ground just broke away like that

C: It was our paddock wasn’t it?

R: Yeh, this was the paddock to the farmhouse and when they built this bungalow, which was 5 years ago wasn’t it?  We said,’ Does it need special foundations?’  But the Coal Board and the architect said not so it’s just on normal foundations.  It hasn’t cracked.

C: And the local authority did all the testing

R: They said that it had already settled for m20 years and it was OK.  So it’s not moved, but  it might move.  I mean, who knows?  All the buildings, all the farm buildings are all knocked down with subsidence and the ones that are there now have still got twisted girders as a result of the pull. Cos you see, some of the land dropped about, I don’t know, about 14, 15 feet.  There’s hills and valleys on the farm that weren’t there before.

I was going to say, in terms of your farm, over the years,  in the 60s was that the first time it had happened, or because there’d been mining here for years.  Was this a feature of farm life, that you’d go out one day and almost sort of see, you know, a hole in a field ?

R: No, you didn’t see a hole in the field, it was a sort of gradual thing.  As they worked across the field, I mean, some of the seams were probably 100 yards long, and as it worked across, in the direction of the field, you could, as the weeks went by, you could see the changes.  You couldn’t see it daily.  But as the weeks went by, the hedges would lose their contours, if you understand me and then there’d be valleys where all the drains would run to one place and it’s flood and virtually all the farmers have been re-drained.

But did you own the farm or was it actually…?.

R: No it was British Coal

Oh, they actually own it.  In a sense they took responsibility, if you like,  that was one of the …

R:  We were compensated for loss of crops if we lost the crop and they drained it at their own expense.  But of course we have bought it since British Coal went private, which means now anything that happens now is down to us really.  But according to what a surveyor told me from British Coal, what remains underground now, the roadways etc. are so deep, if they do collapse, it won’t affect on the surface, that’s what he told me.  Whether he’s right or not I don’t know.

He would say that wouldn’t he!

R: Yeh

C: Yes, that’s true!  We haven’t noticed anything though have we?

R: No, not of late, no…

C: Which is somewhat of a relief

R: But the remains are still there.  I mean, if you went into the farm you’d see the girders are bent – in the barns.  That was a result of the pull.  You see if it drops 100 yards away, it pulls from the side you see and they always told me the pull was the worst.  I mean, the farmhouse is lower than it was originally when it was built, because the tension break that went through this bungalow, went through the corner of the farmhouse and sort of went about 50 yards out and then up again.  So the farmhouse is probably about 18 inches lower than it was when it was built.  Well, it’s not ‘about’, it is.  It is actually that different.

I want to look at the farming, your life in farming, but before I finish that, a slightly different thing about mining was – there were problems if you like underground, but overground was it a kind of a dirty place.  I mean, the miners were obviously dirty coming out, but was all that dirt confined below ground?
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C: No.  At one point it was very dirty – 

R: -Filthy

C: - yes it was.  I guess the coal was coming out her.  Is that right Roger?  They stopped bringing coal out of Bagworth, didn’t they, at some point; but before that lorries with coal  - what about the stocking site – lorries were going there up and down…

R: That was the worse time when they had the stocking sites. That was prior to the Miners’ strike.

Stocking?

R: They stocked coal in great mounds.  They took the fields over, stripped the topsoil off and stacked coal to about a depth of 10 feet, and course there was lots and lots of lorries and the place was absolutely filthy really.  Nobody would have bought a house here, nobody wanted to liver here, except the people that were already here like and you’ve got roots so you tend to stay.  But the place was, well it was disgusting, it was classed as a dying village.  Everybody knew Bagworth as a pretty down and out place really.

C: I think even today if you say ‘Bagworth’ you can see the look on people’s faces sometimes, ‘Bagworth?’ you know.  You weren’t particularly proud to say, you know, ‘I live at Bagworth’ in that sense.

R: No, you were not proud of it, no

C:: People had got a dim view of  the place, you know and I think the biggest thing was that  you felt there was no prospect of it getting any better.  I mean, we fought for a school on that premise, you know, of course the village will revive, of course more people will come one day but you didn’t really believe it.  We were fighting hard for our village school, you know, cos you will never get one back by the way, you know, we’ve got a lot of regeneration, a lot more houses built and so on but we’ll never get that school back, that is not policy.  You know, if you can put two schools into one it’s great for the local authority, you know.

 In these days with people with cars they’ll say well people could drive there….

C: Well yes, but you lose so much when you lose a school…

R: You couldn’t sell your property at that time.

C: Oh there was never a house up for sale…

R: No

C: No.  The sales were when the National Coal Board, as it was then,  would buy a property, you know,  people had no choice but to  sell to them and they’d buy them out as it were  and give them enough money to go and buy one somewhere else, that’s true isn’t it?  But yes, when you look back now I mean it’s so different now, you know.  It’s all so different, a different sort of feel to the place.  You can hardly believe it.  You know, I mean, just repairs alone, we once moved out of the farmhouse to a house down the road for 6 or 7 months while it was repaired and before that it was repaired around us, wasn’t it, and it was hell, sheer hell, you know, it really was.  When it initially cracked it’d be repaired, they would decorate it, it would all look fine.  I know in one case it was about 18 months and it all went again, worse this time and they would come along and they would cut a bit of the bot- the doors wouldn’t – suddenly, you get up one morning, my dining room door wouldn’t open. So they’d come along – it was either sticking at the top or sticking at the bottom, you know?  Literally it wouldn’t open, so the team of workmen used to come, the in-between workmen, and they’d come and they’d saw some of these – it’s a lovely house next door, mid Victorian house, you know, lovely panelled doors,  and they’d saw a bit off the bottom or top whichever and then they would stick  - some of the bad cracks they would stick gummed paper, you know,  and this was my home, which I loved and then you’d have to wait until the settling process happened, do you see?  So you may be waiting for 2 years to have what they called ‘final repairs’.  And then they would come in and a good job would be done, but I’d got a young family, we were running a farm and if you lived in it while it was being done, it was unbelievable – floors had to be taken up, you know,  really big stuff.  We had to have a new roof.  Tell Roger about the roof when they did the – shot these things in the roof.

R: Oh yeh.  In the roof – now there’s steel girders in the roof because the subsidence pulled the joists off the gable end so they had to extend the joists on the top and also they put RSJs  that are in there now and supported the roof with those – had a total new, a complete new roof on it and , retiled it, didn’t they, everything, refelted it, cos there wasn’t felt on originally you see, it was just torched underneath

C: You see Roger, we’re lucky it’s still here because…

R: There was advantages you see, because it was an old house…

C: Oh yes they improved it…

R: … we hadn’t got t lot of money and they came in  and when they moved out it was totally redecorated, you see, so that was on the  plus side, but of course then it went again, you were down again.  But all the doors and all the – what do you call over the top of the doors? The door jambs, they’re all tilted and all the doors have been cut to fit, and they’re like it now.  They’ll be like it forever really.

C: We did buy the house in 1981 and we had some subsidence after that, and it was slightly different.  It was their property they were quite willing, but you had to sort of fight your corner a bit more when it became yours and people experienced that, there was a lot of bitterness because they had a fight to get things done.  Do you know what I mean?  To get it back a s it was, or whatever, when it was their property.  But it’s marvellous it’s survived because all the old farms, other than one as Roger said on Main Street, they all went – a lovely old Manor House, beautiful cottagey type farms, a very large farmhouse across the way, it should say older than Poplar House, beautiful farmhouses which were just demolished.
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R: You see, the way it was, it was cheaper for them to pay the farmers out and bulldoze the farm down, as opposed to keep repairing it, you see.  And anyone that owned them, the private ones, they paid them out and the people took the money and move off somewhere else and they flattened it and they distributed the land to other farmers in the area

Let’s come on to the farming.  How many generations of Miles’ have been farming this land then?

R: My son’s the 5th is he?

C: 4th
R: 4th. My son’s  the fourth generation.

Now let’s go back, I mean, let’s ask the general question about – it’s probably too big a question, but how , what, has the kind of farming changed in those generations?

R: Oh tremendous.  Mostly in – it was pretty well organic when I took it over and – cos fertilizer wasn’t much about and we had a rotational system whereby you took your animals – we had cattle, sheep, pigs and poultry and  the cattle and sheep were rotated round the farm you see, to give the land a rest, then put wheat or something on it, barley and then that was re-seeded and the system worked well.  And one of the biggest differences is the fact that it was so physical. Everything was man-handled you see.  Now it’s pretty well mechanised.  It’s much much easier now.  Then we had to specialise because of financial reasons and pressure of work.  We specialised into grain cereals and sheep, just those two enterprises. And now my son’s just cereals, cos the work attached to livestock you see, and he manages it on his own. There was an awful lot of pleasure in it years ago though, cos you had a lot of – the miners used to like coming to work at harvest and so forth cos it was a change for them you see, as opposed to working down the pit.  And I liked it because, the fun of working with the chaps you see, especially as a boy.

Also, during the harvest – what, they’d do their shift…..

R: Yeh…

…come afterwards and…?

R: Oh yeh… As many as, oh I don’t know,  half a dozen people would come from the mines.  In fact they helped run the farm really.

But when did you really start getting involved?  How old were you when you really – what 15, 16 when you left school.  How old were you?

R: I had to milk the cow when I came home from school and we had to churn the butter while we were still at school.

You were churning the butter by hand were you?

R: Yes

Good gracious!

R: Oh yeh And – not a lot.  Wasn’t a big enterprise, it was just – well during the war they used to trade the butter for sugar you see. One thing about being a farmer’s son or a farmer, you were never ever short of food.  When there were difficult times people found – specially during rationing and so forth, you’d always got something to eat.  I can never ever remember being short of food of any description.

And I know you were a bit young to remember this but, I mean, from  your father’s stories, was their like bartering that went on during the wartime cos…

R: Yes, there was.  Well, like I’ve just mentioned, it was the butter traded for sugar. I remember going to Simpkin and James’ at Leicester, they used to take it there – and bring sugar  back, things like that.  And, apart from that, it was just a good life, being a farmer, as opposed to other people that had a restricted income and they could only get hold of what was in the shops.  But you’d got your own chickens, you used to kill a pig, bacon was always available, eggs were always available, milk was always available…

You say it was a good life, but it was not one that was going to make you rich..?

R: No

You were a tenant farmer.  In terms of like keeping yourself fed and watered…

R: Well, that’s right.  But that is rich isn’t it?

Why did you – if you say it was organic, essentially, as most places were, why was there this great fad for fertiliser?

R: Ah well.  I can remember first putting sulphate of ammonia it was, on some wheat.  And the difference was unbelievable in the yield from the crop and it developed from there really.  The land was always in good heart because you see the way it was rotated, there was lots of fertility in the land.  But then things change and you start to grow continuous cereals, or cereals for more years than one or two and that’s when the nitrogen comes in you see.  And the difference – I’ll never forget it, the difference in that crop was unbelievable and from then on you just develop to what it is today.
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And was there, because of things like subsidies and so on, is there – does that put extra pressure on?

R: Well subsidies were on lime, as far as I can remember.  I don’t know whether there was a subsidy on fertiliser or not then, but there was later on.  But subsidy was on the inputs in many cases and that was a good thing because you kept your land in good fertile order you see.  And then it went on to the products and we had subsidies virtually all my farming life, we had subsidies on livestock didn’t we? Which was great.

In one of the early interviews that I did, I was talking to a chap who was saying that – this is the chap who’s over at Catton Hall, Robin Neilson, was saying that from his point of view, he’s used the land in other ways and in a sense the farming now is almost like just keeping the land tidy.  Now is there… you know, you’re saying your son’s in a situation where he’s gone over to cereals simply because it means he can do it like on his own…

R: Yes, that’s right..

…Is that a pattern generally around here?

R: Oh yes, pretty well a lot of the livestock has disappeared.  Yes it was nearly – I mean we’d got some land down the back here that used to belong to my neighbour and when he – he was a Coal Board tenant and course when he retired, they moved the land to suit the different farmers, so it put it into a ring fence: and on his land I can remember he’s got about – some of which we’ve got now -  he’d got about, must have been, I don’t know, 200 acres and it was full of cattle, all grass. And then he, for some reason or other, got rid of his cattle, and he went towards the cereals and nearly all the land in Bagworth now, let me get this right, is virtually all cereals and corn isn’t it, cereals and rape.

C: I think you’re right, yes

R: Virtually all of it

But in a sense, have you answered the question that the reason it is, is because of  this whole thing about the price of  labour, that in fact, you know, if you’d had cattle you would have needed more employed people?

R: Oh, you do, you need more labour on a stock farm, yeh.  But the … it’s just easier you see. Now, with mechanisation it’s easier.  I mean one man can do the whole of this farm on his own – bit of help at harvest perhaps, you know, to drive a combine perhaps, but if it was full of livestock you’d want considerably more labour – And it’s hard work, physical you see, whereas mechanisation altered all the arable side of it.

How many acres are there for the farm?

R: There’s about 200 that we actually own and my son farms about 220 to 230 now

And when you were a farmer, how many were you farming?

R: For a start there was 170, then we had quite a bit more and it’s same as it is today when I retired.

And again, going back, your father, has it just gradually grown over time or was it always like that

R: I think my father, it was about 150 originally

It’s not grown in dramatic…..?

R: No

And what about other things… What about things like shooting and fishing and things like that.  Has that been part of  the, if you like, the product of the…?

R: We’ve never had shoots or anything like that.  I used to shoot myself but there’s never been  an organised shoot or anything on this farm.  Not for financial reasons, you know.  No money’s been made out of anything like that.

So at the moment there’s no temptation – well not temptation – no action towards diversification…?

R: Yes there is, yeh.  My neighbour for instance diversed into two industries.  He’s got fishing lakes and he does a bit of livery and also plant hire.  That’s Mr Bailey.

C: But Robert’s looking into diversifying isn’t he.  He’s hopefully going to go along with a scheme connected with conservation and…

R: Yeh, well this has changed everything now.  I don’t know too much about it but it’s recent change and they are paying the farmers more for conservation reasons as opposed to producing food….

C: Hedgerows

It’s the set aside is it?

R: Yes

Has he benefited from the National Forest?  Has he got any National Forest….

R: Not yet but he’s looking into it.  A lot of farmers have in the district

C: A lot

What do you think about this National Forest?

R: It’s wonderful

C: It is wonderful isn’t it?

R: Wonderful for wildlife
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C: It came so – it came just right for this village didn’t it, because, as I say, there was so much derelict land, you know,  and it was absolutely wond-…  The first bit of National Forest we had in this village, we had two slag heaps.  When we were children, quite peakish weren’t they?  And little trucks used to go up tipping and sometimes they’d have little bits of burn on them.  I can remember seeing it glowing at night, you know.  So they were levelled, left a sort of, bit of a hill showing, but levelled and we have a ….I think, I maybe entirely wrong but I like to think that this was the first planting of the National Forest on that little bit of  - it’s not a large area is it Roger?

R: Well, it is.  It’d be 50 acre.

C: But I would like to know whether I’m right when I say that, but I feel it was, and they were going to grass it and some people said, ‘Oh’ you know, ‘we don’t need any more grassland’ you know, at the time we didn’t need any more farmland, ‘can we have some trees on it?’  And they took it up and it’s part of the National Forest, it’s called ‘Bagworth New Wood’ and I’ve got that feeling that it was probably one of the initial plantings in the National Forest.

I mean, for places, as you say, like this and obviously I’ve done interviews over at Swadlincote and so on, it has been kind of transformational hasn’t it?

C: Most definitely

R: Oh it has

C: And so wonderful for the future isn’t it as well? You know, to think of ….Oh we helped plant… Lots of  people in the village, we’d go and have plantings you see.  They’d invite us to plant trees and the children.  Oh, we’ve put quite a few in, haven’t we?

R: It’s  great.  It’s really a nice place now.  There’s loads and loads of new walks which are wonderful.  And the trees at the moment would be about what, 6 to 8 feet high and when it’s a forest, and it will be a forest, cos there’s all deciduous trees, oaks, ashes, you know, the lot.  It’ll be a marvellous place for wildlife.

C: We’ve also got the Woodland Trust though you see.  They bought 80 acres.  Down Heath Road we’ve talked about, Little Bagworth Heath Road, they bought 80 acres didn’t they down there and that’s quite wonderful now.  That’s the Woodland Trust as I say, where the Barlestone Road houses were, so we’ve got a mixture of both.  So it is wonderful.  We call ourselves now, we like to think of ourselves as ‘The Village in the Forest’  So it was a dying village, Village in the Forest, what a transformation isn’t it, you know.

It is really?

C: It is wonderful.  It’s absolutely wonderful.

I mean the only sad thing is that obviously the 300 families that went were – sorry the 300 families that were affected were not able to be rehoused, because I was wondering that the other thing was that when you were kids, you two as kids, during the war and after the war and so on in the 50s, this must have been quite a thriving, I mean in community terms…?

R: Oh definitely, yeh.  We had cricket team, football team, al associated with the Club and the mine.  And the Miners’ Institute had billiard tables.. it really was… When I was a young man, especially at school, it really was a thriving place – as a result of the mine you see.  And the miners had a certain camaraderie. Working down the pit’s a dangerous place and they all had to help one another and you got that feeling in the village really.

C: Nice people

R:  It was great then.  It’s always been working class village but the – I don’t know – the atmosphere was good.  And another thing, you never felt at risk did you really?

C: No

R: I mean, in those days you see, your kids could play outside.  There was no fear of abduction or anything like that.  They were better times.  People basically are better off financially but the standard of living isn’t better in that respect.

But the other thing that like exacerbated the changes that other people have talked about – I mean, people do look back upon…?

C: With a rosy glow, yes

…but I mean, you know, in a sense those people that had to leave because their houses fell down, I mean that kind of tore a hole out?

R: Yes definitely

Presumably you’ve now got people coming back in have you?  I mean, not just these houses, are there other new housing developments happening around here?  Is the village growing?

R: Well, of course, those people are older now you see.

C:  I think there are some people who are probably children of those people have probably bought here, but in general they’re new people.  It’s tremendous development.  The mine site was built on itself, the mine site itself.  I think there’s about 80 houses on that – that was a brownfield site.  And then the meadow I talked about, where Roger’s father, you know, didn’t like us going for the ball, that’s now got I think about 140 – 150 houses on it.  So we’re talking 250, probably going up towards 300 new houses in the last 6 or 7  years.  So that has a tremendous impact.  Now that has a different sort of impact to the trees of course.  Some people don’t enjoy that impact.  The impact of more houses, more cars, people we don’t know.  We’re trying very hard – well there’s something called ‘The Bagworth Forward Group’ which was set up purposefully to try and bring – when people did arrive here – to bring us all together, you know, in a community sort of way, a social sort of way.  I was a part of it, I’m not now, but I think it’s helping a little, but it’s always – I don’t know whether it’s just people are different, I don’t know that, but it isn’t easy to encompass them.  They don’t seem to join in so much.
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But you’ve got a situation presumably, again, when you two were growing up as kids, this was the kind of place where you worked together, played together, prayed together – I mean, the mine was here  and the people who worked here, they were either farmers or miners or whatever, they were connected with the place.  Presumably, where do people work now, who live here?  Where do all these newcomers actually work?

C: Exactly

R: Good point

C: Obviously out of the village, don’t they?

They haven’t got, as you said, the kind of job…

C: Well it is that commuter thing

There was that tightness wasn’t there through trust and depending on each other?

R: Yeh

C: Well they commute don’t they? I mean, you’re just aware of that. They work out- naturally they do.  But it’s when they get back here that we would like them to be part of our – the social fabric of this village, do you know?  We have a Country Show, we have fetes,  we have a Historical  Society.  We have, we’re doing some Psychology classes at the moment and I think there’s about 12 of us, two of them possibly newish people, when I say newish, you know,  in a village that means probably 10 years, they’ve been here 10 years!  But it , so… we’re trying to bring people together.  I mean  if someone walks down here and I’m in the garden, if it was a villager they would say ‘Hello’.  Well, I try to catch their eye to say ‘Hello, lovely day’  But some of them look a little bit suspicious. ‘ Why is that strange lady talking to me, I don’t know her?’ You know, so, but we’re trying, we’re very conscious that it’s important.  It is isn’t it?  But as I say, so things are… we’re trying, that’s all I can say on that.  But it’s a different sort of  - it’s an entirely different sort of regeneration to the National Forest, isn’t it.  It’s people, it’s houses, it’s the things that go along with it, you know so…

R: Most of the people when they talked about the development, they didn’t want it at all…

C: Oh no

R: We didn’t want any more houses.  Although we hadn’t got the amenities – you see we hadn’t got  any amenities at all – we’d got one post office which is now gone and we’ve had all these houses, we’ve still got no amenities you see.  So it’s been no benefit to us in that respect.  But most of the people I talk to they don’t like the fact that the houses are there.  It was a nice little – everybody more or less knew everybody.  I’m not saying it was perfect, but it’s not improved it having the houses.

C: I think that would happen in most villages really.

I would say it would happen everywhere, unless you were building the houses for a local industry, and the other thing is – I was going to say the other thing that, when you were growing up as kids… first of all there were no televisions you know, and I mean – I’ve just been talking to a lady who’s 89, but actually when you think about it, it doesn’t change much, you did have to make your own enjoyment didn’t you, there weren’t, you know – the kids today wouldn’t be down there going across the fields, they d be sitting there playing with their Game Boys or whatever, isolated in their house, not wanting to go out.  But I just wonder… oh God I’ve lost my thread….

C: No televisions….

I was going to say, what – when you were growing up as young people what were the community – what were the activities in the community that brought people together. You talked about a Country Fair that you have now.  Has that been going for …

C: No, no that’s something Bagworth Forward started.  When I say a Country Fair, it really is – showing vegetables, fruit – it’s absolutely a marvellous concept, it’s working very well.  It’s lovely.

Was there a Bagworth Fair many years ago?

C: Well yes…. My family life revolved round the church.  My father was a church warden, my mother cleaned the church and did the flowers, you know: twice to church on  Sundays… Can I just say, there’s something I really thought of when I was thinking about playing in the street; on Sunday I wasn’t allowed to play in the street.  We could go for a walk, but we played in the garden behind the house, you didn’t play games on Sundays… It didn’t apply to everyone, that was our Sunday, you know.  And so a lot of our social life revolved round the church.  There was always a church kind of fete, don’t think they called it a – probably ‘A Church Social’ they called it, with entertainment in the evening, I remember that.  And of course you had Harvest Festivals and we had, we had something we talked about last night called ‘The Sermons’.  Have you come across that, The Sermons….?

You had them in this village too?
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C: Yes, we had two chapels and a church in this village.  A chapel – where the houses are here there was a Primitive Chapel there.  That came down because of subsidence by the way, forgotten about that, and then we also had the Baptist Chapel which is, has been replaced, because of subsidence, built on the same site – and that’s between the two villages, Bagworth and Thornton.  Apparently that came about because, many years ago, when your Grandfather I suppose was farming, the Countess of Warwick owned all this land and she was very High Church and they needed a piece of land to build this Baptist Chapel on and she wasn’t willing to have it in her villages, so it was placed in sort of no man’s land between the two and there it is and works very well doesn’t it?

R: Yeh

C: So, yes, they had Sermons, but we went to Church.  We had what we call ‘The Anniversary’ I think probably and, you know, new clothes a pretty dress, you know

I mean, as I say I was just talking to an 89 year old lady who had all this.  You did as well?

C: We did, yes, definitely.  Yes, well I did… as I say we’ve got a History Group and we did an oral history thing and I talked to someone who lived across the road, she’s dead now,  and she talked about it.  It was really wonderful.  Do you know, here for example, this chapel, they used to put seats  across the road, right, on the  pathway, because there were so many people used to come and they would sit and they would open the doors and the music and sound would come out across the street, they were so, you know… I mean, you looked forward to it as children I think.

R: Well, the only reason I looked forward to it was so I could go on the  Sunday School treat.

C: Yes, yes, the Sunday School treat

R: Which was a trip to Cleethorpes!

C: Yes, you had to put in an appearance – well I had no choice but to put in an appearance at Sunday School.  We went every Sunday afternoon, that’s the first thing, and then you weren’t home long – we’d usually have the curate for tea and then we’d be off to the evening service. So, which was a chore for a child, you know.  I was given a sweet, a little peppermint sweet, just as the vicar was getting into the pulpit to do his sermon – we were surreptitiously passed a sweet to suck while he was talking to keep us quiet!  And then another wonderful thing about church in the summer, we’d walk to church and then we’d walk home across the fields, do a round sort of, you know.

Was that something almost like as a village thing, well I say  a village thing – you weren’t on your own?

C: No. there’d be a little group who lived in the same direction, and it was quite wonderful.  We’ve got somewhere called The Park, which was the big, the big posh farm, wasn’t it Roger?

R: Yeh

C: State of the art farm, very rich man, and some of it you could walk along and you’d come down this Black Lane, Park Lane and come out, you know, so it was a big sort of circular walk  and, you know ‘Cider with Rosie’, Laurie Lee’s, when I saw that, although I think that was the thirties was it, it reminded me so much.  Everything did seem at a slower pace.  When you walked  you seemed to walk leisurely and you look at things and your father would show…

R: You only remember the good days though, don’t you?

C: Yeh, I know you remember the good days, but it ..

And always sunny

R:Yeh

C: And there was a leisurely pace more I think, I don’t know.  Simple things one enjoyed, you know.

So there were the Sermons or the Anniversary.  What else was there that was a kind of  villagey type event.  You said about fetes

C: The fair.  Now we had the fair…

R: Oh yeh

C: We called it the Wake.  The fair used to come some time in September, probably late September…

R: No, I think it was either the first or second week of October

C: Oh really? Very late September/October.  And it used to come to a field at the top of the village….

R: Holland’s amusements

C: Yes.  And this was a big, big thing.  Children used to go home for lunch to Barlestone Road from our school, which was in Main Street and they’d walk by and something had arrived, right, concerning the fair and they’d come into school, ‘The fair’s arrived! Something’s here’ and they’d tell us what was here and it was really built up over that week

R: It was the big entertainment of the year

C: It was.  It was just Friday and Saturday wasn’t it?

R: Yeh, yeh.

C: And we…

R: Save all your money all year for that.

C: Yes – and yes that was a big, big thing, wasn’t it?

R: Dodgems and rifles and…

C: Apparently it used to go from here to the Nottingham Goose Fair they always said, which a combination of all the fair people.

R: There was Ashby as well

C: It was the end of the season wasn’t it?  Yeh, but that was really quite wonderful.  I was always a little bit frightened sometimes – the lights and the music and the darkness.  I remember being a bit nervous.  I know my parents took us on the Saturday evening but on Friday, very early, we were allowed to go, a little group of us, we’d go, you know, walk up and go to it

But you’re obviously recalling then a childhood memory.  What about  - it must have been great when you were a teenager?

C: Oh yes.  It did go on; and when I came back here and lived at the farmhouse, it was here in the field behind us.  They used to come to this field and the owner of the fair used to come and connect up to our electricity for her caravan, which I was never quite sure about really – and pay us for it, but you know, it’s a difficult thing to evaluate the cost – but anyway she used to do that, and buy eggs from me.  But yes it did go on.

When did that stop then?

C: When would that have finished?

R: I don’t know, quite a while now
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C: I don’t think my children knew it did they?  Did the children go? I don’t know.

R: I don’t know.  It finished a long time ago, many years ago.

C: I think probably for commercial reasons.  They probably thought it wasn’t worth their while coming.

I’ve been round to different villages and so on and talking to people and it was a feature in so many places, but Nottingham still goes on doesn’t it?

C: Oh it does

R: I think so

Ashby?

C: The Ashby Statutes, they still go on

Oh my God!

C: Have you got to finish?

This is the trouble, it’s such a short time… I want to end really with a thing which is about a favourite place.  Have you got … which for you is a favourite place, if you like, …

C: Today do you mean?

Yeh.  Well, you know, maybe here or it might bring back memories of your childhood or – I mean, I’ve phrased it for other people in the sense of, you know, when you die, if there was a place where you’d like your ashes scattered round here, where would that place be?

C: Down on our own farm.  Oh, most definitely, we’ve almost sorted a place out actually haven’t we?

R: Yeh, yeh

C: Down near a pond, just down here, um we have.  I love walking down our field.  You walk down, you’re heading towards Nailstone, straight back, and  you come to a - fields that are forming a hill and we’ve got a seat at  the top where we sit and we look down…

R: Somebody’s already had their ashes spread down there

C: Yes, a neighbour  - new to the village actually.  New, and she loved the walks around here and unfortunately she died and her husband asked if he – he’s put a seat there as well, with a little plaque on it, and scattered her ashes.  But yes, my favourite place to go is down our own fields.  I love it. First of all your own your own -  well it is a bridleway part of it, but I can walk down the private bit and I’m on my own and I love it down there.  And that would have been a place I wouldn’t have been allowed to go as a child you see. Just add that!  What’s your favourite place darling?

R: Oh yes, the same as yours, but a favourite place as I remember it in the past, it was the Brucehead (?) Brook and what we called the Red River, which is a biggish pond, where we used to fish for newts etc.

C: This is on the farm.

R: That’s what sticks ion my mind, yeh.  But there was fish in the Brucehead Brook and we spent a lot of time down there.  But, yeh, I mean – you see neither of us are religious now you see, so it means rather a farce of going to church and all that fuss and palaver.

C: It’s a recent decision isn’t it really?

R: Yeh..So I may as well be spread down the field – do it a bit of good!

Thank you very much
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